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Chapter 14 Archaeological and Cultural Heritage 

14.1 Introduction 
 
This chapter examines the potential impact on the archaeological and cultural 
heritage resource of the proposed bridge over the River Suir in Waterford city.  The 
proposed bridge will join from the northern wharf to Meagher’s Quay to the south.  
The assessment was carried out by Irish Archaeological Consultancy Ltd (Barry 
Fitzgibbon MA, MIAI), on behalf of Waterford City and County Council. 
 
This study determines, as far as reasonably possible from existing records, the 
nature of the archaeological resource within the proposed development area using 
appropriate methods of study.  In order to provide an appropriate archaeological 
context, the wider vicinity was also examined.  Desk-based assessment is defined as 
a programme of study of the historic environment within a specified area or site that 
addresses agreed research and/or conservation objectives.  It consists of an analysis 
of existing written, graphic, photographic and electronic information in order to 
identify the likely heritage assets, their interests and significance and the character of 
the study area, including appropriate consideration of the settings of heritage assets 
(CIfA 2014).  This leads to the following: 

• Determining the presence of known archaeological heritage sites that may be 
affected by the proposed development; 

• Assessment of the likelihood of finding previously unrecorded archaeological 
remains during the construction programme; and 

• Suggested mitigation measures based upon the results of the above research. 
 
The assessment involved detailed interrogation of the archaeological, historical and 
architectural background of the development area.  This included information from 
the Record of Monuments and Places (RMP) of County Waterford, the County and 
City Development Plans, the topographical files of the National Museum of Ireland 
and cartographic and documentary records.  Aerial photographs of the assessment 
area held by Ordnance Survey Ireland were also consulted.  A field inspection was 
carried out during March 2018 in an attempt to identify any known cultural heritage 
sites and previously unrecorded features, structures and portable finds within the 
study area.  
 
An impact assessment and a mitigation strategy have been prepared.  The impact 
assessment is undertaken to outline potential adverse impacts that the proposed 
bridge may have on the cultural heritage resource, while the mitigation strategy is 
designed to avoid or reduce such adverse impacts. 
 
Definitions 

In order to assess, distil and present the findings of this assessment, the following 
definitions apply.  ‘Cultural Heritage’ where used generically, is an over-arching term 
applied to describe any combination of archaeological and cultural heritage features, 
where –  

• the term ‘archaeological heritage’ is applied to objects, monuments, buildings 
or landscapes of an (assumed) age typically older than AD 1700 (and recorded 
as archaeological sites within the Record of Monuments and Places); 

• the term ‘cultural heritage’, where used specifically, is applied to other (often 
less tangible) aspects of the landscape such as historical events, folklore 
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memories and cultural associations.  This designation can also accompany an 
archaeological or architectural designation. 

14.2 Methodology 
 
This study determines, as far as reasonably possible from existing records, the 
nature of the cultural heritage resource within the area of the proposed development 
using appropriate methods of study. The methodology for predicting and assessing 
impacts is presented in Appendix 14.3 and the mitigation strategy for cultural heritage 
resources is presented in Appendix 14.4. 

14.2.1 Guidance and Legislation 

The following legislation, standards and guidelines were consulted as part of the 
assessment. 

• National Monuments Acts, 1930-2014; 

• The Planning and Development (Strategic Infrastructure) Bill, 2006; 

• Heritage Act, 1995; 

• Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 2015 Advice Notes on Current 
Practice (in the preparation of Environmental Impact Statements) (Draft Sept. 
2015). Dublin, Government Publications Office; 

• Draft Guidelines on the Information to be Contained in Environmental Impact 
Assessment Reports (EIAR) (EPA 2017). Dublin: Government Publications 
Office; 

• Guidelines on the Information to be Contained in Environmental Impact 
Statements, (EPA, 2002); 

• Advice notes on Current Practice in the Preparation of Environmental Impact 
Statements, (EPA, 2003); 

• Frameworks and Principles for the Protection of the Archaeological Heritage, 
1999, (formerly) Department of Arts, Heritage, Gaeltacht and Islands; 

• Architectural Heritage (National Inventory) and Historic Monuments 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 2000 and the Local Government (Planning and 
Development) Act 2000; 

• Architectural Heritage Protection: Guidelines for Planning Authorities, (2011), 
(formerly) Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht; and 

• Transport Infrastructure Ireland (TII) Guidelines for the Assessment of 
Archaeological Heritage Impacts of National Road Schemes, 2005. 

 
Appendix 14.2 presents a list of the legislation protecting the archaeological 
resource.  

14.2.2 Consultation 

Following the initial research, a number of statutory and voluntary bodies were 
consulted to gain further insight into the cultural background of the baseline 
environment, receiving environment and study area, as follows: 

• Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht – the Heritage Service, 
National Monuments and Historic Properties Section: Record of Monuments 
and Places; Sites and Monuments Record; Monuments in State Care 
Database; Preservation Orders and Register of Historic Monuments; 

http://www.tii.ie/technical-services/environment/planning/Guidelines-for-the-Assessment-of-Archaeological-Heritage-Impact-of-National-Road-Schemes.pdf
http://www.tii.ie/technical-services/environment/planning/Guidelines-for-the-Assessment-of-Archaeological-Heritage-Impact-of-National-Road-Schemes.pdf
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• National Museum of Ireland, Irish Antiquities Division: topographical files of 
Ireland; 

• Waterford Council: Planning Section; and 

• Historical and Ordnance Survey Maps. 

14.2.3 Desktop Study 

The following sources were examined and a list of areas of archaeological and 
cultural heritage potential was compiled: 

• Record of Monuments and Places for County Waterford; 

• Sites and Monuments Record for County Waterford 

• National Monuments in State Care Database; 

• Preservation Orders; 

• Register of Historic Monuments; 

• Topographical files of the National Museum of Ireland; 

• Cartographic and written sources relating to the Proposed Scheme; 

• Documentary sources; 

• Aerial photographs;  

• Waterford City Development Plan 2013-2019; and 

• Excavations Bulletin (1970–2017). 
 
Record of Monuments and Places (RMP) is a list of archaeological sites known to the 
National Monuments Service, which are afforded legal protection under Section 12 of 
the 1994 National Monuments Act and are published as a record.  
 
Sites and Monuments Record (SMR) holds documentary evidence and field 
inspections of all known archaeological sites and monuments.  Some information is 
also held about archaeological sites and monuments whose precise location is not 
known e.g. only a site type and townland are recorded.  These are known to the 
National Monuments Service as ‘un-located sites’ and cannot be afforded legal 
protection due to lack of locational information.  As a result, these are omitted from 
the RMP.  SMR sites are also listed on a website maintained by the Department of 
Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht (DoCHG) – www.archaeology.ie. 
 
National Monuments in State Care Database is a list of all the National Monuments in 
State guardianship or ownership.  Each is assigned a National Monument number 
whether in guardianship or ownership and has a brief description of the remains of 
each monument.  The Minister for the DoCHG may acquire National Monuments by 
agreement or by compulsory order.  The state or local authority may assume 
guardianship of any national monument (other than dwellings).  The owners of 
national monuments (other than dwellings) may also appoint the Minister or the local 
authority as guardian of that monument if the state or local authority agrees.  Once 
the site is in ownership or guardianship of the state, it may not be interfered with 
without the written consent of the Minister. 
 
Preservation Orders List contains information on Preservation Orders and/or 
Temporary Preservation Orders, which have been assigned to a site or sites.  Sites 
deemed to be in danger of injury or destruction can be allocated Preservation Orders 
under the 1930 Act.  Preservation Orders make any interference with the site illegal. 
Temporary Preservation Orders can be attached under the 1954 Act.  These perform 

http://www.archaeology.ie/
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the same function as a Preservation Order but have a time limit of six months, after 
which the situation must be reviewed.  Work may only be undertaken on or in the 
vicinity of sites under Preservation Orders with the written consent and at the 
discretion of the Minister.  
 
Register of Historic Monuments was established under Section 5 of the 1987 
National Monuments Act which requires the Minister to establish and maintain such a 
record.  Historic monuments and archaeological areas present on the register are 
afforded statutory protection under the 1987 Act.  The register also includes sites 
under Preservation Orders and Temporary Preservation Orders.  All registered 
monuments are included in the Record of Monuments and Places.  
 
Topographical files of the National Museum of Ireland is the national archive of all 
known finds recorded by the National Museum.  This archive relates primarily to 
artefacts but also includes references to monuments and unique records of previous 
excavations.  The find spots of artefacts are important sources of information on the 
discovery of sites of archaeological significance.   
 
Cartographic and Written sources are important in tracing land use development 
within the development area as well as providing important topographical information 
on areas of archaeological potential and the development of buildings.  Cartographic 
analysis of all relevant maps has been made to identify any topographical anomalies 
or structures that no longer remain within the landscape.  The cartographic sources 
consulted during this assessment are described in Section 14.3.3 and include: 

• William Petty’s Down Survey Map, Waterford Liberties, 1654-56; 

• Map of Waterford from 1673 (reproduced in Ryland 1824); 

• Richards and Scale’s Plan of the City and Suburbs of Waterford, 1764; and 

• Ordnance Survey 6-inch and 25inch maps of County Dublin (1837, 1871, 1907) 
 
Documentary sources were consulted to gain background information on the 
archaeological, architectural and cultural heritage landscape of the proposed 
development area.  
 
Aerial photographic coverage is an important source of information regarding the 
precise location of sites and their extent.  It also provides initial information on the 
terrain and its likely potential for archaeology.  A number of sources were consulted 
including aerial photographs held by the Ordnance Survey and Google Earth. 
 
Development Plans contain a catalogue of all the Protected Structures, Architectural 
Conservation Areas (ACAs) and archaeological sites within the county.  The 
Waterford City Development Plan (2013–2019) was consulted to obtain information 
on cultural heritage sites in and within the immediate vicinity of the proposed project.  
 
Excavations Bulletin is a summary publication that has been produced every year 
since 1970.  This summarises every archaeological excavation that has taken place 
in Ireland during that year.  Up until 2017 and since 1987 this publication has been 
edited by Isabel Bennett.  This information is vital when examining the archaeological 
content of any area, which may not have been recorded under the SMR and RMP 
files.  This information from 1970 to 2017 is also available online 
(www.excavations.ie). 
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14.2.4 Field Inspection 

A field inspection is necessary to determine the extent and nature of archaeological 
and industrial archaeological remains and can also lead to the identification of 
previously unrecorded or suspected sites and portable finds through topographical 
observation and local information.  The archaeological field walking inspection was 
carried out on 16th March 2018 and entailed: 

• Inspecting the proposed development area and its immediate environs; 

• Noting and recording the terrain type and land usage; 

• Noting and recording the presence of features of archaeological and/or 
industrial archaeological significance; 

• Verifying the extent and condition of any recorded sites; and 

• Visually investigating any suspect landscape anomalies to determine the 
possibility of them being of anthropogenic origin. 

 
14.2.5 Underwater Archaeological Assessment 

The aim of the underwater archaeological impact assessment was to determine the 
significance of the known archaeology, identify previously unrecorded archaeology; 
and to recommend mitigation measures to minimise any negative impacts of the 
redevelopment project on potential archaeological remains.  The underwater 
archaeological impact assessment report is presented in Appendix 14.5. 
 
In addition to the sources listed in 14.2.3, the Shipwreck Inventory of Ireland was 
consulted.  The information contained within the inventory was gathered from a broad 
range of cartographic, archaeological and documentary sources, and each entry in 
the Inventory gives information on the ship’s name, type of vessel, port of origin, 
owner’s name, cargo, date of loss and other relevant information where available. 
 
A marine geophysical survey was undertaken by Hydromaster Ltd. in September 
2018.  The acoustic survey was conducted with a Reson Teledyne T-50 P 
Multibeam, ultra-high resolution Multibeam Echosounder.  The magnetic survey was 
conducted with a Marine Magnetics SeaSPY Magnetometer, well suited for the 
detection and mapping of all sizes of ferrous objects.  
 
A dive survey was also undertaken in September 2018 by a five-person team 
including dive supervisor, dive tender, stand-by diver and diver.  

14.3 Description of Receiving Environment 

14.3.1 Archaeological and Historical background 

Although very recent discoveries may push back the date of human activity by a 
number of millennia (Dowd and Carden, 2016), the Mesolithic period (c. 7000-
4000BC) is the earliest time for which there is clear evidence of prehistoric activity in 
Ireland.  During this period people hunted, foraged and gathered food and appear to 
have had a mobile lifestyle.  Evidence of permanent settlement during this period is 
rare, although Mesolithic deposits are typically found within riverine and coastal 
areas.  The first evidence of human occupation in the Waterford area dates to the 
Mesolithic Period, as seen by the large quantities of Late Mesolithic implements, 
around 5000 BC, found during the Bally Lough project (Zvelebil et al., 1996).  The 
River Suir would have been an excellent resource for people to utilise in terms of 
food, water and transport during the prehistoric period. 
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During the Neolithic period (c. 4000–2400 BC) communities became less mobile and 
their economy became based on the rearing of stock and cereal cultivation.  This 
transition was accompanied by major social change.  Agriculture demanded an 
altering of the physical landscape.  Forests were cleared and field boundaries 
constructed.  There was a greater concern for territory, which saw the construction of 
large communal ritual monuments called megalithic tombs, which are characteristic 
of the period.  A number of Neolithic tombs are located in the vicinity of Waterford 
City, such as the portal tomb (WA017-016) located at Ballindud, c. 3.8km to the south 
and a megalithic structure (WA018-004), located at Ballygunnertemple, c. 5.3km to 
the southeast.  
 
The Bronze Age in Ireland was marked by the use of metal for the first time.  As with 
the transition from Mesolithic to Neolithic, the transition into the early Bronze Age 
was accompanied by changes in society.  Megaliths were replaced in favour of 
individual, subterranean cist or pit burials that were either in isolation or in small 
cemeteries.  These burials contained inhumed or cremated remains and were often, 
but not always, accompanied by a pottery vessel.  Settlement traces from the Bronze 
Age (2500–800 BC) are plentiful in the area surrounding Waterford City, ranging from 
wedge tombs and cist burials, containing burials accompanied by ‘Food Vessel’ 
pottery, to large numbers of standing stones to the southwest of the city.  There is a 
standing stone close to the city at Gibbet Hill (Moore, 1999).  A bronze axehead in 
the National Museum, Dublin, was found in 1836 in ‘the suburbs of Waterford’. 
 
The most common Bronze Age site within the archaeological record is the burnt 
mound or fulacht fiadh.  The term fulacht or fulacht fiadh is found in early Irish 
literature from at least the 9th century AD and refers to open air cooking places.  
Over 4500 fulachta fiadh have been recorded in the country making them the most 
common prehistoric monument in Ireland (Waddell, 1998).  Even though they may 
have functioned as cooking sites, dates in the mid-late Bronze Age (1500–600BC) 
show that they significantly predate the cooking sites referred to in early Irish 
literature (Brindley & Lanting, 1990).  There are a number of recorded burnt mounds 
and fulachta fiadh located within the area surrounding Waterford city, the closest of 
which is KK046-013001, located c. 1.2km to the east of the proposed bridge. 
 
The foundation of Waterford as a city dates to the Viking Age and the earliest date for 
the city itself is generally accepted around AD 912-33.  Waterford began as a 
defended Viking longphort or ship-fortress and became Ireland's second city after 
Dublin. The original name, Vedrarfjordr is an Old Norse name likely meaning ‘windy 
fiord’. Its great parchment book (1361–1649) represents the earliest use of the 
English language in Ireland for official purposes and demonstrates the importance of 
the city as the regionally pre-eminent port in the medieval period.  The town 
developed from an early fort at Reginald’s Tower, along the ridge of high ground 
which eventually became High Street and Peter Street.  It was laid out in a regular, 
chequered street pattern.  Excavations at the western limit of the early town at 
Bakehouse Lane indicate the earliest fortifications comprised an earthen bank, 
constructed from the spoil of a deep moat-like ditch topped by a wooden palisade. 
Later during the 12th century, just before the Anglo-Norman invasion, the bank was 
fortified further by a stone wall (Plate 14.2).  Material dated from underneath this 
bank gave an approximate date of between 898 and 920 AD (Scully, unpublished). 
 
The proposed bridge is to be located to the north west of the ‘Viking Triangle’ (as 
now defined).  Originally the triangle extended between Reginald’s Tower and 
Martin’s Gate to the site of Turgesius’ Tower, at the river end of Barronstrand Street 
(Scully, 2013a).  Recently the ‘Viking Triangle’ has been reduced to indicate a 
smaller area with Colbeck Street and Bishop’s Palace at the base (ibid.).  
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The Waterford City Development Plan (2013–2019) describes the ‘Viking Triangle’ 
(or the Trinity Within Architectural Conservation Area) as: 

“set on the north-eastern edge of promontory where the Suir once met the 
confluence of John’s Pill (now The Mall). This area would have been where the 
Viking longphort was founded. This would have been the lowest point of the 
landscape. Later Dundory Fort, which adjoined and included Reginald’s Tower, 
was built in this area providing us with the Viking Core of the City. This section of 
the Trinity Within ACA is the oldest continuously-populated urban area in Ireland. 
Therefore, the area is of particular Historical and Archaeological significance and 
falls wholly within the City’s Zone of Archaeological Potential. Archaeological 
excavations within this locality have revealed a wealth of artefacts and 
architectural features dating back to the Viking and Medieval periods. The name 
of the ACA is generated from its location in the Parish of Trinity Within”. 

 
In 1170, the city was captured by Anglo-Norman forces led by Richard de Clare, 
known as ‘Strongbow’, and Dermot McMurrough, King of Leinster. King Henry II 
landed there the following year and received the submissions of the kings of 
Desmond and Thomond (Bradley & Halpin, 1992).  Waterford was retained by the 
Crown as a royal city and under this royal patronage it developed into one of the 
most important and prosperous towns in medieval Ireland.  Waterford continued to 
thrive and prosper and between 1224 and 1246 three murage grants were given to 
Waterford to increase the walled area of the city and to accommodate the growing 
population which had reached the height of its power by the early 14th century under 
the reign of King Edward I (McEneaney 2001, 23, Plate 14.2).  
 
During the 13th and 14th centuries, Waterford and New Ross accounted for more 
than half of all Irish trade (ibid.). Trade rivalry between these two towns continued 
from the 13th to the 16th century.  Waterford was involved in the trading of wine with 
Bordeaux, including acting as an entrepot, such as in 1300 when 3000 hogsheads of 
wine were re-exported to supply King Edward l’s army in Scotland (Barry, 1995) as 
well as with towns such as Southampton, Chester and Bristol. 
 
The medieval period was characterised by the foundation of a large number of 
ecclesiastical sites throughout Ireland in the centuries following the introduction of 
Christianity in the 5th century AD.  These early churches tended to be constructed of 
wood or post-and-wattle.  Between the late 8th and 10th centuries, mortared stone 
churches gradually replaced the earlier structures.  Many of the sites, some of which 
were monastic foundations, were originally defined by an enclosing wall or bank.  In 
addition to the cathedral, there were seven parish churches in Waterford city, the 
closest of which to the proposed development is St Peter's (WA009-005023) dating 
to at least 1314, located c. 290m to the south, but also including the parish church of 
St Olave's (WA009-005022).  This is likely to have been a pre-Anglo-Norman 
foundation, although the earliest reference to it dates to 1407. It is located c. 315m to 
the southeast of the proposed bridge. 
 
Various orders such as the Augustinians, Franciscans, Benedictines, Dominicans, 
and Knights Hospitallers set up monasteries and hospitals in Waterford City and its 
surrounds.  The Dominican priory of St Saviour (WA009-005031) located c. 167m to 
the southeast, was established by 1230 within the Anglo-Norman defences of the 
Viking city.  Other such religious houses include the Franciscan friary (WA009-
005032), located c. 360m to the southeast and the Benedictine Priory (WA009-
005030) located c. 600m to the south.  The Augustinian priory of St Catherine 
(WA009-005029), located c. 645m to the southeast was founded before 1200 and 
was later claimed by King John as one of his foundations. St Bridgit's church 
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(WA009-005027), located c. 570m to the southeast, was granted to the Knights 
Templar in 1224 and later to the Knights Hospitallers in 1313. 
 
A number of medieval houses are listed within the RMP records of Waterford City 
including seven located within a 250m radius of the proposed bridge (Plate 14.1 and 
Table 14.1).  The closest is a medieval house (WA009-005051), located c. 172m 
southeast.  By the end of the medieval period, the walled area of the town had nearly 
doubled in size (Barry, 1995). 
 

 
Plate 14.1 Extract from RMP map showing the location of the proposed 

development (red), recorded monuments (blue) and previous 
archaeological investigations (green) 

 
Waterford remained the second city in Ireland throughout the 16th century, through a 
flourishing trade industry.  This declined by the end of the century due to the 
curtailment of trade with Spain and the situation worsened during the religious and 
social upheavals of the 17th century.  The city was later revived by a new quay 
construction in the early 18th century, which involved the demolition of waterfront 
fortifications and half-timbered houses in the area.  This was undertaken during the 
mayoralty of David Lewis Esq.; Ryland states that ‘the quay was greatly enlarged, by 
throwing down the town walls. He also threw down Baron-strand gate; filled the great 
ditch, which then joined that gate and the town wall; and made a communication 
between the old quay and the new. The present quay and several of the fine 
buildings on it, including the exchange, were commenced in his time’ (Ryland 1824, 
178-9). 
 
The city began to spread onto reclaimed ground beyond the medieval walls. Smith 
noted that in 1746 Waterford’s Quays were over half a mile long and paved and 
faced with cut stone; it was over 40 feet wide in parts and was fully equipped with the 
infrastructure expected of a major European port (Smith 1746).  The quay allowed for 
trade with North America as well as with England and the Continent.  A bridge built 
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across the River Suir in 1793 greatly improved communications with the hinterland to 
the north, which had been hitherto cut off from the bustling city to the south. 
 
The period of economic depression which followed the Napoleonic wars led to a 
collapse of trade in some sectors.  The city became industrialised with the 
development of steam power and the advent of railway, with as many as six lines into 
and out of the city. 

14.3.2 Summary of Previous Archaeological Fieldwork  

A review of the Excavations Bulletin (1970−2017) has shown that while no 
archaeological investigations have been undertaken on either the northern or 
southern sites of the proposed bridge, a number of archaeological excavations have 
been carried out within the surrounding area.  Further to the south and southeast, 
multiple excavations have been carried out within the medieval core of the city.  
 
Excavation at Little Patrick St. and Barronstrand St., c. 200m to the south of the 
southern site of the proposed bridge, in 1992 revealed fragmentary remains of 
medieval floors and plots dating from the mid-12th to the early 13th century.  This 
was overlaid by two levels of mid-13th century ironworking and 19th-century walls 
and drains (Bennett, 1993: 219, Licence Ref.: 92E0210).  This site has been listed in 
the Record of Monuments and Places as WA009-005061. 
 
Nearby archaeological testing was undertaken at Nos 31, 32 and 33 Great Georges 
Street, c. 170m to the southwest of the proposed bridge (Bennett, 2014:413, Licence 
Ref.: 14E0315).  The original Anglo-Norman town wall is upstanding to the southeast 
of the site, see Plate 14.2. The excavation confirmed that the projected line of the 
town wall crosses the street and also found the interior of No. 31 to be a backfilled 
brick-built cellar.  No archaeological deposits were present in No. 30. 
 

 
Plate 14.2 The Anglo-Norman town walls of Waterford with proposed 

development area circled (McEneaney 2001, 95) 

 
Archaeological testing (08E0190) at the rear of No. 9, George's St., c. 175m to the 
southwest of the proposed bridge, uncovered evidence of a medieval pit (visible 
dims. 1.5m x 1m; D 0.6m) extending beyond the site (Bennett, 2008: 1245).  This site 
has been listed in the Record of Monuments and Places as WA009-005130. 
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Archaeological testing at the junction of Exchange St. and High St., c. 225m to the 
southeast of the proposed bridge was undertaken in 1984 and 1985.  This exposed 
17th century features including a laneway, a courtyard with a well, ovens and a 
drainage system.  This site has been entered into the Record of Monuments and 
Places (WA009-05044).  Earlier material dating from the 12th to the 14th centuries, 
mainly comprising pits, trackways and hearths, was also uncovered (Bennett, 
1985:55).  This site was subject to further investigation in 2001 when archaeological 
testing was undertaken (Licence Ref.: 01E0515).  This established that no 
archaeological remains of the ancient High Street frontage survived but an area to 
the north contained remains from the 12th–18th centuries (Bennett, 2001:1250). 
 
During extensive excavations in Waterford City, a series of rubbish pits were found c. 
245m southeast of the proposed bridge.  Numbering a total of 496 pits, they were 
classified into six types-unlined (415), clay-lined (5), wattle-lined (24), timber-lined 
(14), stone-lined (37), and a single pit lined with oak chips.  Timber-lined pits dated to 
the late 11th/early 12th century, while the stone-lined pits likely dated to the 13th 
century. Also found were 20 ovens, often simple flat stones embedded in clay and 
surrounded by low walls with extensive oxidisation of the clay, mainly dating from the 
13th to the 15th centuries.  Ten kilns were also recorded, the majority of which were 
keyhole-shaped and dated to the 13th and 14th century.  The majority were used for 
drying corn, but lime production and two post medieval clay-pipe kilns were also 
recorded.  These sites were entered into the Record of Monuments and Places as 
WA009-005060 and WA009-005126 respectively. 

14.3.3 Cartographic Analysis 

William Petty’s Down Survey Map, Waterford Liberties, 1654-56 

This map does not show the area of proposed development in great detail, see Plate 
14.3. Waterford city is shown as a well-developed town with a clear street lay out and 
numerous ecclesiastical structures. St Catherine’s Abbey, located c. 665m to the 
southeast, is marked clearly and named on this map.  The estuarine defences are 
marked as Watergate.  The proposed development is located to the east of this 
structure.  The surrounding landscape is mapped by parish.  The city does not 
extend to the northern bank of the River Suir in this map.  Everything north of the 
river is considered as part of County Kilkenny.  The northern site of the proposed 
bridge is located in Kilcleheene.  The gibbet (KK046-007), located c. 600m to the 
northwest of the proposed bridge, is marked and annotated on this map. 
 


